RECEIVED

Dec 19 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Bentley D. Price

The Honorable Milton G. Kimpson

The Honorable Alex Kinlaw, Jr.

Appellate Case No. 2025-001292

Circuit Court Civil Action Case No. 2024-CP-10-01489

Michael D. Royal,

Appellant,

v.

Ashley House Council of Co-Owners, Inc.

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Michael D. Royal
1985 Riviera Dr., Ste 103 #484
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464
Telephone: (407) 284-9258
Email: michael@pareto.gr

pro se Appellant

December 19, 2025

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. **Issue 1. Whether the circuit court erred in imposing an “Advance Notice Rule” that bars members from making motions at their own annual meetings without first noticing all other members of such motions prior to such meetings.**
2. **Issue 2: Whether Royal’s actions complained of in the Kinlaw Order of April 28, 2025 were complying with or undermining the Price Order of June 5, 2024 and the Kimpson Order of March 17, 2025, and whether the court should vacate all findings and conclusions inconsistent therewith.**
3. **Issue 3: Whether the circuit court erred in granting a permanent incunction that gagged and restrained Royal’s legitimate activities as a member because the Council failed to show irreparable harm or inadequacy of legal remedy, and whether the injunction is overbroad and infringes on Royal’s statutory and contractual rights under the Council’s governing documents.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Michael D. Royal filed a **Summons and Complaint** on March 20, 2024 against Ashley House Council of Co-Owners, Inc. (“Council”), alleging the Council failed to hold a vote on a 2023 resolution. Complaint at 4-9. He also filed on that date **Plaintiff’s Emergency Motion for a Temporary Restraining Order and Motion for Temporary Injunction**, seeking to postpone the Council’s 2024 annual meeting until that vote occurred. Judge Bentley Price heard the motion on March 28, 2024 and denied it by order dated April 8, 2024. Judge Price found no basis for injunctive relief. Royal filed a **Rule 59(e) motion** on April 19, 2024 (R. p. 7) to reconsider, which Judge Price denied by a **Form 4 order** on June 5, 2024.

Royal next invoked the statutory right to call a special meeting. On April 18, 2024, he and other members delivered a demand petition to the Board under S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-702 for a

special meeting to remove Board members. Plaintiff's Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Declaratory Judgment, filed August 21, 2024, p. 2; *see also* Exhibit B thereto (containing a copy of the demand). When the Board took no action within 30 days, Royal noticed the meeting for August 17, 2024. *Id.* at 4. His notice stated the purpose as voting on removal of one or more board members but did not identify individuals on the board by name.

On August 16, 2024, the day before the special meeting, the Board through an agent announced that Royal's special meeting notice was deficient for not identifying by name directors on the Board to be removed. *Id.* at 6; *see also* Exhibit I thereto (containing a copy of the email). All incumbent Board members boycotted the August 17, 2024 special meeting. Royal and other members convened the meeting anyway and, with no Board members present, presided. *Id.* at 7. The members in attendance voted to remove six directors and elected six new individuals to replace them. *Id.*

On August 21, 2024, Royal moved in circuit court for declaratory and injunctive relief to validate the August 17 meeting. **Plaintiff's Notice of Motion and Motion for Declaratory Judgment.** He sought a declaration that the special meeting and its removal vote were valid, and an injunction barring the ousted directors from acting. The motion was heard on August 29, 2024 by Judge Milton G. Kimpson. Royal argued that the meeting complied with the law; the attorney for the Council disagreed.

Judge Kimpson issued an **order dated March 17, 2025** denying Royal's motion (the "**Kimpson Order**"). The court held the August 17 meeting void because the notice failed to identify by name which directors were to be removed, finding that such identification by name was required by S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-808(e) and the Bylaws. The court held that the attempted removal of directors had no legal effect: the six incumbent directors remained in place and the six

replacement directors had no authority. Kimpson Order at 5-12. Royal's **Rule 59(e) motion** filed March 27, 2025 to reconsider was denied by Judge Kimpson on May 1, 2025.

Meanwhile, the Board sought by way of Defendant's Amended Motion for a Temporary Restraining Order and Motion for a Restraining Order and Motion for a Permanent Injunction, filed April 15, 2025, to stop Royal from conducting what it claimed was unauthorized governance actions. Judge Alex Kinlaw, Jr. heard the Council's injunction request on April 23, 2025. Judge Kinlaw granted the motion by **order dated April 28, 2025** (the "**Kinlaw Order**").

Royal filed a Notice of Appeal on June 25, 2025. He appeals Judge Kinlaw's April 28, 2025 injunctive order and his June 2, 2025 order denying Royal's motion to reconsider the same. These two orders are immediately appealable under S.C. Code §§ 14-3-330(4) and 14-8-200 and Rule 203(b)(1), SCACR because these orders are "interlocutory order[s] . . . in a court of common pleas granting . . . an injunction," and Royal served and filed his notice of appeal within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice of entry of the order or judgment of the circuit court's **June 2, 2025 order** denying Royal's motion to reconsider the April 28, 2025 injunctive order.

There is no monetary judgment on appeal.

The lower court's interlocutory orders on appeal include the following: (1) the Honorable Alex Kinlaw, Jr.'s April 28, 2025 Order Granting Temporary Restraining Order, Restraining Order, and Permanent Injunction (hereinafter, the "**Kinlaw Order**"; and (2) the Honorable Alex Kinlaw, Jr.'s June 2, 2025 Order Denying the Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration of the same.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Michael D. Royal is a condominium unit owner at Ashley House in Charleston, South Carolina. By virtue of ownership, Royal is a member of the Ashley House Council of Co-Owners, Inc. ("the Council"), which is the nonprofit corporation and homeowners association governing the 13-story, 147-unit condominium regime. The Council operates under a recorded **Master Deed**

and **Amended and Restated Bylaws (2017)** (the “**Bylaws**”), and is subject to the South Carolina Horizontal Property Act (S.C. Code § 27-31-10 *et seq.*) and the South Carolina Nonprofit Corporation Act (S.C. Code § 33-31-101 *et seq.*). The Council has a Board of Directors (“**Board**”) elected by the members¹ to oversee day-to-day business of the Council pursuant to the Bylaws (Bylaws Art. III & IV).

Royal’s action centers on matters of corporate governance including his allegations that the Council’s Board obstructed members’ attempts to govern the corporation at membership meetings and subsequently obstructed attempts by a clear majority of the members to remove the allegedly offending directors from the Board. Royal alleges that these directors were motivated by their desire to implement a \$20+ million building façade project opposed by the members whom they represented. The directors and the attorney’s for the Council working at the direction of the Board contend that the Board had the authority to conduct the project without the approval of the members. Royal, however, has contended that the project requires a vote by membership pursuant to Bylaws § 6.4.²

Initially, Royal filed the lawsuit in an attempt to force the Board to conduct a vote on a matter he had raised at the 2023 annual meeting of the Council (held in March 2023). At that meeting, during the “New Business” portion of the agenda, Royal had introduced from the floor a proposed resolution to permit remote participation in future member meetings for members who

¹ Members of the condominium are called “co-owners” in the South Carolina Horizontal Property Act and in the Council’s governing documents.

² “Whenever in the judgment of the Board of Directors the Common Elements shall require additions, alterations or improvements which are intended to be assessed as Common Charges and the cost of which will equal or exceed a sum equal to ten percent (10%) of the operating budget then in effect, the making of such additions, alterations or improvements shall require approval by a majority of Co-Owners and by mortgagees holding mortgages on sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66 2/3%) of the number of Condominium Units subject to mortgage.”

were unable to attend in person (the “**2023 Resolution**”). The chair (the then-president and board member) conducted an inconclusive voice vote and then determined that it would not be possible to conduct a paper ballot that night. He assured the members they would have an opportunity to vote on the resolution by email ballot. However, despite Royal pressing the Board repeatedly over the following year to allow the members to vote on the measure, the Board refused to conduct the vote (though it did conduct an email vote on another matter raised at the 2023 annual meeting).

Royal felt it was urgent for the Board to conduct the vote on the 2023 resolution prior to the 2024 annual meeting – scheduled for March 25, 2024 – for the reason that the outcome of matters decided in the 2024 annual meeting (including votes for directors) depended upon which members could participate in that meeting, and the determination of which members could participate depended upon whether members could participate remotely, as proposed in the 2023 annual meeting.

As the 2024 annual meeting approached, an attorney working with the Board stated to Royal in an email that Royal’s 2023 Resolution had been illegitimate because it had never been seconded at the 2023 meeting. The attorney attached a copy of meeting minutes to prove the point. The minutes contained a conspicuous statement that Royal’s motion had not been seconded and therefore had failed. After Royal provided the attorney with an audio recording of the 2024 meeting in which the “second” was clearly audible, the attorney withdrew his claim but still defended the Board’s refusal to conduct the vote.

Royal, located out of state, was unable to physically attend the March 25, 2024 meeting and filed suit on March 20, 2024 and sought a **temporary restraining order (TRO)** to delay the meeting until such time as the Board conducted the vote on the 2023 Resolution. Ultimately, the 2024 annual meeting was partially conducted (paused due to a medical emergency) on the

appointed date before the circuit court could hear Royal's TRO motion. At the TRO motion hearing held on March 28, 2024, the Council (through legal counsel) opposed Royal's motion.

Critical to the development of the facts in this case, attorneys for the Council argued that pursuant to Bylaws, Art. III, Sec. 3.4³, no member may introduce a motion or resolution at a member meeting without first providing to all other members prior to the date of the meeting advance notice of such motion, or consent of all owners. Defendant's Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Temporary Restraining Order and Temporary/Preliminary Injunction at 2, 9-11. **Throughout this brief, this claim will be referred to as the "Advance Notice Rule."** Attorneys for the Council argued that because Royal had provided no advance notice of his 2023 Resolution, the resolution was illegitimate.

Judge Bentley Price sided with the Council and expanded the Advance Notice Rule. In his **April 8, 2024 Order**, Judge Price found, "Plaintiff did not establish he provided notice to all Co-Owners in line with the Bylaws for his 2023 Resolution. Further, Plaintiff has not shown where the Bylaws or the Nonprofit Code permit a single Co-Owner to raise an issue for a vote by the Co-Owners at an Annual Meeting without prior notice." Thus the court brought South Carolina statute into the discussion of the authority for the Advance Notice Rule, though the court declined to cite

³ Section 3.4. Notice of Meetings: It shall be the duty of the Secretary to mail a notice of each annual or special meeting of the Co-Owners, except as provided in Article II, Section 2.1(d), at least seven (7) days, but not more than fifty (50) days prior to such meeting, stating the purpose thereof as well as the time and place where it is to be held, to each Co-Owner of record, at such address of such Co-Owner as appears in the records of the Council of Co-Owners. The mailing of a notice of meeting in the manner provided in this Section shall be considered service of notice. No business shall be transacted at a special meeting except as stated in the notice. No notice need be given to Co-Owners who attend the meeting in person or who waive notice in writing executed and filed on the corporate records before or within ten (10) days after the meeting. If all Co-Owners are present or consent thereto in writing, any business may be transacted, other than business which requires consent by mortgagees and for which sufficient consent by mortgagees has not been received.

to any specific language or section of either the Bylaws or South Carolina Statute.

In subsequent orders, discussed below, the court under Judge Kimpson and Junge Kinlaw – citing to Judge Price’s order – would further strengthen the assertions around the Advance Notice Rule, holding that South Carolina statute prohibited member motions at member meetings without advance notice. Importantly for the Court of Appeals, the leap from Bylaws to statute implies a particular application of the Advance Notice Rule to universal application of the Rule to the members of all nonprofit corporations in South Carolina.

Having failed to secure a judicial intervention for what Royal perceived as necessary corrective action for the Board, Royal gathered with other members to pursue resolution through political means. On **April 18, 2024, Royal and other members delivered to the Board and its officers and agents a written demand for a special meeting** of the co-owners pursuant to S.C. Code § 33-31-702(a)(2) to remove directors from the Board. Plaintiff’s Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff’s Motion for Declaratory Judgment, filed August 21, 2024, p. 2; *see also* Exhibit B thereto (containing a copy of the demand).

The petition, signed by members representing more than 5% of the Council’s voting interests, stated in its preamble “Certain Co-Owners are concerned that the majority of the members of the Board of Directors hold the position that Co-Owners should not be permitted to vote on whether or not the Council of Co-Owners is bound to a proposed \$21 - \$23 million regime project” and requested a special members’ meeting pursuant to Bylaws, § Section 3.3 “to discuss and vote upon the removal and replacement of one or more members of the Board of Directors.” Plaintiff’s Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff’s Motion for Declaratory Judgment, filed August 21, 2024, at 3. Royal’s accompanying email addressed to the entire Board expressly stated, “Each member of the board of Directors should be present at the meeting should he or she wish to speak

on behalf of himself or herself,” making it clear that *every* director was subject to removal at the demanded special meeting. *Id.*

Under the South Carolina Nonprofit Corporation Act, the Council’s Board was obligated to promptly schedule a requested special meeting. S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-702. If the Board failed to do so within 30 days, Royal (as a petitioning member) was authorized to set the meeting himself. S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-703(a)(3). **The Board did not call a meeting within 30 days** of Royal’s demand, but ignored it. Plaintiff’s Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff’s Motion for Declaratory Judgment, filed August 21, 2024, at 3-4. Therefore, exercising his statutory rights, Royal **noticed a special meeting for August 17, 2024** *Id.* at 4; see also Exhibit E thereto (containing a copy of the notice letter). Royal and other members sent written notice to all members announcing that “the purpose of the meeting is to discuss and vote on the removal and replacement of one or more Board members.” *Id.* The notice did identify by name specific directors but left the designation open to members attending the meeting, stating only the possibility of removing “one or more” board members.

On August 16, 2024 (the day before the meeting), the Board through the association manager circulated a communication to all members asserting that the August 17 special meeting was “not properly noticed” because the notice did not identify the specific directors to be removed. *Id.* at 6; *see also* Exhibit I thereto (containing a copy of the email). The Board took the position that the sentence in S.C. Code § 33-31-808(e) “A director elected by members may be removed by the members only at a meeting called for the purpose of removing the director and the meeting notice must state that the purpose, or one of the purposes, of the meeting is removal of the director” requires the specific individual identification by name of each director whose term on the Board is threatened with removal, regardless of the actual knowledge by Board members that their

positions were threatened.

The Board members declined to attend the August 17 meeting. **Royal and other members proceeded to convene the special meeting on August 17, 2024**, with a members representing (directly and through proxies) 56.0730% of the voting power of the corporation present, meeting the quorum requirement. *Id.* at 7. Because no incumbent Board members were present to preside (all having boycotted the meeting), the owners in attendance elected Royal as chairman *pro tem* to conduct the meeting. *Id.* During the meeting, co-owner Rose Rowland introduced a motion to remove six of the eight sitting Board members by name – specifically, directors Lisa Burbage, Connie McElhaney, Sherri Greenberg, Janice Gorget, John Bradley, and Kevin Gaskins – and to elect six new individuals to replace them. *Id.* That motion carried by 97.2797% of those present and 54.5476% of the total voting power of the corporation. *Id.* Royal, as chair, then declared that those six named directors were removed and that six specified new co-owners were elected to the Board in their place. He reported these results to the old Board via written notice after the meeting. *Id.* at 8.

The incumbent Board flatly rejected this outcome, standing on the position that the meeting was void due to lack of proper notice and opportunity to be heard. They continued to act as the Board and refused to recognize the six new “directors.”

This impasse led to Royal’s August 21, 2024 motion asking the court to validate the special meeting. The circuit court did not rule on the motion until March 17, 2025. In that order (the “**Kimpson Order**”), **Judge Kimpson** denied Royal the declaratory judgment Royal sought by holding in part that the Council’s governing documents require advance notice of member motions and member meetings (the “Advance Notice Rule”). *Kimpson Order* at 2, 8. As with the earlier Price Order, the *Kimpson Order* does not cite to any particular language either in South Carolina

statute or in the Council's Bylaws to support the Advance Notice Rule.

Notably, Judge Kimpson's decision which did not question the underlying facts asserted by Royal about the number of attendees and the voting percentages at the meeting, also did not provide for any relief pursuant to S.C. Code § 33-31-703(b) by ordering the Council to hold a special meeting so that the members could vote on removal of directors from the Board as a majority had tried to do at the August 17, 2024 meeting.

The Kimson Order also held that the special meeting was invalid on a separate ground – that S.C. Code §33-31-808(e) requires notice of a special meeting for the removal of directors from the Board to identify each threatened director by name. Kimpson Order at 5.

The Board scheduled the 2025 annual meeting for April 28, 2025. Plaintiff's Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant's Amended Motion for a Temporary Restraining Order and Motion for a Permanent Injunction, at 11. Pursuant to the Price and Kimpson Orders, Royal and other members prepared a notice of motions to remove directors from the board, mailing the notice out in advance of the meeting at their own expense. *Id.* at 8. For reasons explained in detail in the Argument, in order to comply with the Price and Kimpson Orders, Royal was forced to produce 748 versions of the motion notice, which were sent out to the members, any one of which might have been offered at the meeting.

On April 15, 2025, the Board filed Defendant's Amended Motion for a Temporary Restraining Order and Motion for a Restraining Order and Motion for a Permanent Injunction, seeking to prevent Royal and the other members from removing directors from the Board. On April 16, 2025 the Board then announced that it was "cancelling" the 2025 annual meeting and did not cite any authority by which it could do so. *Id.* at 10.

The court agreed under Judge Kinlaw, granting the motion. Notwithstanding Judge Price's

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