RECEIVED

Feb 19 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Alex Kinlaw, Circuit Court Judge
Case No.: 2024-CP-10-01489

Appellate Case No. 2025-001292

Michael D. Royal,Appellant,

v.

Ashley House Council of Co-Owners, Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Skyler C. Wilson, Esq.
Copeland, Stair, Valz & Lovell, LLP
40 Calhoun Street, Suite 400
Charleston, SC 29401
Ph: (843) 727-0307
Attorney for Respondent

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

Furthermore, many of the findings pertain to Appellant's motions he planned to bring at the 2025 Annual Meeting. That Annual Meeting has passed and this Court's order vacating those findings would have no practical effect on the outcome and that issue is, therefore, moot. *See Curtis v. State*, 345 S.C. 557, 567, 549 S.E.2d 591, 596 (2001) (explaining a case is moot when an event occurs that makes it impossible to grant effectual relief).

Ashley House notes that the Motion for TRO states it is based on "the pleadings filed of record." Thus, the filings in the case other than what was specifically filed with the motion support Ashley House's position. Further, this Court can affirm for any grounds appearing in the record on appeal. Rule 220(c), SCACR. Nevertheless, under the any evidence standard, the findings should be affirmed.

Appellant argues the order incorrectly states he attempted to conduct his own meeting. This takes the finding out of context and that statement is supported by evidence. The Order noted that Ashley House filed the TRO “to stop the Plaintiff from conducting his own meeting of the Ashley House Council of Co-Owners.” That is an accurate statement because that was the purpose of the motion. Also, Appellant’s opposition to the Motion for TRO explained that the “Co-Owners plan to proceed with the annual meeting” after the Board cancelled it. **Pltfs. MIO TRO, p. 11.** Appellant is a single Co-Owner representing his own interests, not the interests of the Co-Owners. Considering his past conduct in leading the purported continuation of an annual meeting in April 2024 after the Board suspended the meeting, and him leading the “special meeting,” there is evidence in the record to support suggestions Appellant planned to hold the meeting.

Appellant argues the order incorrectly cites Judge Price’s order regarding his ability to show a success on the merits. Judge Kinlaw’s finding in this respect is supported by the evidence of Judge Price’s order.

Appellant argues the order is only “partially correct” in stating that the Council of Co-Owners acts through its Board of Directors. “Partially correct” indicates that the finding is supported by evidence. Nevertheless, the governing documents support the finding. The Master Deed defines the Board of Directors as “natural persons elected by the Co-Owners to direct the operation of the Condominium.” **Pltf’s Compl., Ex. A (Art. II, 2.1(c)).** Master Deed, Article XI, § 11.1 provides that the Condominium shall be administered, supervised and managed by the Council . . . which shall act by and on behalf of the Co-Owners . . . in accordance with this instrument, the Bylaws of the Council, and in accordance with the Condominium Act” The Bylaws that state “The affairs of the Condominium and the Council of Co-Owners shall be governed by a Board of Directors” **Pltf’s Compl., Ex. B (§ 2.1(a)).** The Bylaws then state

“the Board of Directors shall have the powers and duties necessary for the administration of the affairs of the Council of Co-Owners” **Pltf’s Compl., Ex. B (§ 2.2)**. Thus, there is evidence to support a finding that the Council acts through its Board.

Appellant takes issue with the finding that he emailed “notice of motions which he intended to bring to the floor”, when he in fact did not intend to bring all of the motions. The finding is supported by evidence because Appellant emailed motions with the statement “Please timely publish and distribute notice of these motions to all Co-Owners and ensure they may be brought up for a vote at the Annual Meeting.” **Pltf’s MIO TRO, p. 16.**

Appellant takes issue with the finding that Ashley House cancelled its annual meeting and filed a motion for TRO in response to Appellant’s motions. This finding is supported by evidence, specifically the April 16, 2025 notice to Co-Owners that “in light of [Appellant’s] pending motion requesting Judge Kimpson to reconsider his order of March 17th—as well as our recently filed motion seeking to restrain and enjoin the 600+ petitions submitted by [Appellant]—we have been advised to cancel the upcoming annual meeting” **Pltf’s MIO TRO, p. 81.**

Appellant takes issue with a finding “The Plaintiff has failed to comply with the governing documents for the Ashley House.” There is evidence to support that finding because (1) the finding is in the context of outlining Ashley House’s arguments and, therefore, that is an accurate “finding” that Ashley House made that argument, and (2) the Court agreed with it and relied on prior orders of the court outlining compliance with governing documents for removing directors. Judge Kimpson noted the motions were not in compliance with the governing documents and had not been sent to all Co-Owners. Ashley House outlined the governing document provisions that apply to motions in its filings with respect to the other court orders addressing that issue. Thus, there is evidence to support Judge Kimpson’s finding.

Appellant argues the order incorrectly states he failed to comply with the Orders of Judge Price and Kimpson. That finding is supported by evidence and argument, as outlined above in Part I.A-B.

Appellant argues the order incorrectly states he submitted an excessive number of potential motions. This finding is supported by evidence, considering the filings showing the more than 700 motions, Appellant's indication that the Board "should be prepared for th[e] meeting to last for 5+ hours" and asking the Board make sure "the room reservation will accommodate such a meeting." **Pltf's MIO TRO, p. 18.**

Appellant argues the order incorrectly states that motions he noticed would require amendments to the Bylaws. There is evidence to support this finding in the record. Ashley House asserted that the first 8 motions Plaintiff listed would require a Bylaw amendment. **Resp. MIS TRO, p.2.** For example, the second motion Appellant listed asked for restrictions to be placed on the Board's authority to approve any project regardless of how classified. **Pltf's MIO TRO, p. 18.** The Bylaws, however, differentiate between what approval is required based on the type of project. **Compare Pltf's Compl., Ex. B (§ 6.2 (Maintenance & Repair)) with Pltf's Compl., Ex. B (§ 6.4 (Additions, Alterations or Improvements)).** The other motions presented conflicts with the Bylaws that would require amendments, like forcing the Council to adopt virtual participation technology when quorum could only be met by proxy or in-person attendance under the Bylaws. Notably, Appellant failed to timely respond to a request to admit that quorum could only be met under the Bylaws in person or by proxy. **Ptf's Mot. re Admissions; Resp. MIO Pltf's Mot. re Admissions.** Thus, that fact is conclusively established for this case regardless of whether Appellant has a motion pending to allow late responses. Other motions improperly wrested matters from the Board's discretion, like firing Mr. O'Kelley and forcing the Council to adopt rules and

regulations. The Board has discretion for hiring and firing personnel (Bylaw Section 2.2 (e)) and has authority to adopt regulations (Bylaw Section 2.2(f); Master Deed Art. II, 2.1(x)). Thus, there is support for Judge Kinlaw's finding.

Appellant argues as incorrect, the finding that his attempt to remove the Board of Directors was not proper due to Judge Kimpson's order and his pending motion to reconsider. This finding is supported by evidence. The matter before Judge Kimpson concerned Appellant's "special meeting" at which he and select Co-Owners purported to remove multiple board members. Judge Kimpson declared that effort null and void. However, Appellant timely asked Judge Kimpson to reconsider that order and affirm Appellant's "special meeting" results. Judge Kimpson had not ruled on the motion to reconsider at the time of Judge Kinlaw's order. **4.28.25 Order (J. Kinlaw); 5.01.25 Order (J. Kimpson)**. If Judge Kimpson granted Appellant's relief and affirmed his Board of Directors, then the motions to remove the board of directors at the annual meeting would be ineffective because those directors removed as a result of the motions would not have been directors.

Appellant contests a finding that his motions, if allowed, would render the Ashley House ungovernable for an entire year. Appellant takes this finding out of context, and it actually lists the arguments Ashley House made in support of its motion for TRO. **04.28.25 Order, p. 5**. That "finding" is supported by the evidence, including Ashley House's motion for TRO. Further, it is not difficult to see how the substance of Appellant's proposed motions might make governance difficult, with the Board of Directors' identities in question and placing restrictions or other measures on the Board's authority. Thus, this finding is supported by evidence.

Appellant argues the finding his motions are not in compliance with governing documents, prior orders, and applicable statutes is incorrect. Ashley House addresses a similar contention above, and the finding is supported by evidence in the record.

Appellant asserts the order incorrectly states Ashley House had no adequate remedy at law to prevent the motions. That finding is supported by evidence contained in filings of record on the case. An adequate remedy at law exists when a party has a legal cause of action for damages. *See Knohl v. Duke Power Co.*, 260 S.C. 374, 377, 196 S.E.2d 115 (1973). Ashley House did not request any legal damages with its motion, and there would have been no monetary damages Ashley House could have recovered if Appellant's motions were permitted to go forward.

Appellant contests the finding that his motions were defective and improper considering the governing documents, statute, and Judge Kimpson's order. That finding is supported by evidence contained in the filings of record, and is addressed above with respect to the prior orders and Appellant's improper motions.

Appellant asserts that the order incorrectly "preserves the status quo." This finding is supported by evidence in the record and argument. The purpose of a temporary injunction is to "preserve the subject of the controversy in its condition at the time of the order." *Curtis v. State*, 345 S.C. 557, 569, 549 S.E.2d 591, 597 (2001). At the time of Judge Kinlaw's order, the "status" was that there had been no motions yet and Appellant was challenging Judge Kimpson's order which could have changed the makeup of the Board and impacted what motions could be brought at the annual meeting. Preventing the Appellant's planned motions preserved the subject of the controversy and, therefore, the court's finding is supported.

Appellant takes issue with order stating he offered no proof that the motions had been sent to all Co-Owners required by statutes and the governing documents. This finding is supported by

evidence in the record, including Appellant's opposition memorandum which shows that he emailed the motions to the Board of Ashley House and then requested the Board to distribute the notice of motions to all Co-Owners. **Pltf's MIO TRO, p. 16** ("Please find attached a letter noticing the Ashley House board and officer of motions Please timely publish and distribute notice of these motions to all Co-Owners"). This evidence indicates the motions were not already provided to Co-Owners. Ashley House addresses throughout this brief how notice is required.

Appellant contests the Order's statement that allowing his motions "to go forward would be an end-run around Judge Kimpson's order." This finding is supported by evidence because Judge Kimpson ruled which Co-Owners comprised the Board of Directors after Appellant's "special meeting" but Appellant was still challenging Judge Kimpson's order via motion to reconsider when Judge Kinlaw ruled. Judge Kinlaw noted Appellant was trying to use the motions as a de facto nullification of Judge Kimpson's rulings. Further, Judge Kimpson ruled that the notice must be sent to all Co-Owners naming the director threatened with removal, and Appellant had not provided notice to all Co-Owners of his motions. Thus, there is evidence to support that Appellant was attempting to get around Judge Kimpson's order.

Appellant challenges the order's finding that his motions would circumvent amendment requirements. This finding is supported by the evidence. As argued above, some of Appellant's motions would have required a higher threshold for voting to be affirmed (66 and 2/3%) because they would require a Bylaw amendment. Appellant's motions, however, did not account for the higher voting threshold or the notice requirement for meetings to amend governing documents based on the filings of record. Therefore, there is evidence to support the finding.

Appellant argues as incorrect, the finding that motions 11-668 related to the Board and could not go forward where Judge Kimpson ruled who was on the Board and the motions could

not be used as a de facto nullification of Judge Kimpson's ruling. Judge Kimpson ruled "the Board of Directors is and *shall remain* that Board of Directors elected prior to the August 17, 2024 meeting," naming the specific directors. **3.17.25 Order, p. 11.** Appellant's motions were attempts to remove the Board of Directors, which is in conflict with Judge Kimpson's "shall remain" order. In light of Judge Kimpson's order and that Appellant was still challenging it when Judge Kinlaw ruled, it did appear Appellant was trying to use the motions to accomplish what Judge Kimpson denied. Therefore, there is evidence for the finding.

Appellant contests the finding in the order that he called a meeting of Co-Owners for April 28, 2025, asserting that the Board called the meeting. There is evidence to support the court's finding. The Board cancelled the meeting set for April 28, 2025, and chose to delay it to wait for instruction from the court. **Pltf's MIO TRO, p. 81.** Appellant was part of the effort to hold the annual meeting at the same location and time, even calling the venue to reserve the space. **Pltf's MIO TRO, p. 10-11; 69.** Appellant's disagreement with whether the Board could cancel or postpone the meeting does not render the finding to be without any evidence to support it.

Appellant argues the order mischaracterizes the annual meeting as a "special meeting," the order implies Co-Owners are prohibited from removing directors, and mischaracterizes Appellant's attempts to comply with Judge Kimpson's order. There is evidence in the record to support the findings. As for a special meeting, a single Co-Owner cannot call a meeting unless it is a special meeting, which requires a certain voting power. There is evidence to show the Board canceled or delayed the annual meeting, and the Appellant supported holding a meeting anyway. However, Appellant did not provide information showing the voting threshold to hold a meeting. The other two "findings" Appellant argues are addressed by Ashley House elsewhere in this brief and are supported by evidence in the record.

The final finding Appellant contests is a statement that the order can be enforced by contempt powers of the court. That is an accurate statement because violating a court order is grounds for finding a party in contempt. It is not a statement that Appellant has violated any order, but merely an accurate statement of the law. *See, e.g., Miller v. Miller*, 375 S.C. 443, 652 S.E.2d 754 (Ct. App. 2007) (“The power to punish for contempt is inherent in all courts. Its existence is essential to the preservation of order in judicial proceedings, and to the enforcement of the judgments, orders and writs of the courts, and consequently to the due administration of justice.” (quoting *Floyd v. Floyd*, 365 S.C. 56, 72, 615 S.E.2d 465, 473 (Ct. App. 2005))).

In sum, this Court should affirm Judge Kinlaw’s findings because (1) Appellant does not cite any law in support for permitting an appellate court to vacate individual findings in an injunction order, (2) vacating many of the findings would not provide relief because the findings are tied to events that have passed and, therefore, are moot, and (3) Judge Kinlaw did not abuse his discretion because there is evidence to support his findings.

III. This Court should affirm the injunction against Appellant because Appellant appears to have abandoned the issue on appeal and the injunction is sufficiently limited or its purpose has passed.

Appellant argues this Court should reverse Judge Kinlaw’s order because it is broad and restricts him from engaging in various governance activities, it locks the board in place, and it arms the council with the threat of contempt for any violation. **App Br. at 26.**

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